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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council
Charleston, West Virginia
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, and each major fund of the West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council (the
Council), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Council’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
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Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major
fund of the Council, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position, and where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Council, and do not purport to, and do
not present fairly the financial position of the State of West Virginia as of June 30, 2018, the changes in
its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 10, the schedule of the proportionate share of the net pension
liability, the schedule of contributions to the PERS, the schedule of the proportionate share of the net
OPEB liability, and the schedule of contributions to the RHBT on pages 46 through 51, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 9,
2018, on our consideration of the Council’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Council’s internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Charleston, West Virginia
October 9, 2018
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
INTRODUCTION
Our discussion and analysis of the West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council’s (the
“Council”) financial performance provides an overview of the Council’s financial activities for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Please read it in conjunction with the Council’s financial statements,
which begin on page 11.
USING THIS REPORT
This report consists of a series of fund level and government-wide financial statements. The Statement
of Net Position and Statement of Activities report the net position and activities of the Council as a
whole. The Governmental Fund’s Balance Sheet and the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance report the Council’s governmental fund balance and the respective changes in
it. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net
Position - Proprietary Fund present the proprietary fund net position and the respective changes in net
position. The Council’s net position and the Council’s fund balance represent ways to measure the
Council’s financial health or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Council’s net
position and fund balance are indicators of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Business Type Activities:






Total assets increased $7.47 million from $802.483 million to $809.953 million
Deferred outflows of resources decreased $142 thousand from $1.162 million to $1.020 million
Total liabilities decreased $7 million from $188 million to $181 million
Deferred inflows of resources increased $32 thousand from $18 thousand to $50 thousand
Net position increased $14 million from $615 million to $629 million

Governmental Activities:





Total assets decreased $99 from the previous year
Deferred outflows of resources decreased $659 thousand from $6.152 million to $5.493 million
Total liabilities decreased $13 million from $187 million to $174 million
The deficiency in net position decreased $13 million from ($181) million to ($168) million

Government Wide:






Total assets increased $7.47 million from $802.483 million to $809.953 million
Deferred outflows of resources decreased $802 thousand from $7.315 million to $6.513 million
Total liabilities decreased $20 million from $375 million to $355 million
Deferred inflows of resources increased $32 thousand from the prior year
Net position increased by $27 million from $434 million to $461 million

Other Highlights:
 15 water and waste water project and economic development loans were closed for the year
ended June 30, 2018 on behalf of the Council
 25 water and wastewater grants were closed for the year ended June 30, 2018 on behalf of the
Council
(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNCIL AS A WHOLE
Our analysis below focuses on the Net Position (Table 1) and Changes in Net Position (Table 2) of the
Council:

2018
Business Type
Activities
ASSETS
Cash equivalents
Investments
Assets held by others
Loans receivable, net
Other
Total assets

$

$

143,343,746
95,922,505
568,197,623
2,489,085
809,952,959

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of
resources from pensions
$
33,088
Deferred outflows of
resources from OPEB
3,345
Deferred loss on
refunding
983,593
Total deferred outflows
$
1,020,026
LIABILITIES
Bond payable, net
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Other
Total liabilities

$

$

178,395,141
55,576
50,460
2,936,215
181,437,392

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of
resources from pensions
$
30,952
Deferred inflows of
resources from OPEB
19,343
Total deferred inflows of
resources
$
50,295

Table 1
Net Position
2018
Governmental
Type Activities
$

$

24
24

$

-

$

2017
Business Type
Activities

2017
Governmental
Type Activities

$ 140,837,696
100,331,825
206,000
559,071,974
2,035,602
$ 802,483,097

$

$

123
123

$

$

-

97,796

-

-

-

5,493,428
5,493,428

1,064,683
1,162,479

6,152,420
6,152,420

$

$

$

173,097,918
715,690
$ 173,813,608

$ 185,290,226
178,377
2,999,833
$ 188,468,436

$

186,190,638
775,081
186,965,719

$

$

$

-

-

$

-

18,520

$

$

-

18,520

$

-

123
(180,813,299)

NET POSITION
Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)

$

621,723,250
7,762,048

$

24
(168,320,180)

$ 593,751,485
21,407,135

$

Total net position

$

629,485,298

$ (168,320,156)

$ 615,158,620

$ (180,813,176)

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNCIL AS A WHOLE (Continued)
Table 2
Changes in Net Position

Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services
General revenues
Miscellaneous revenues
Intergovernmental
Investment earnings
Total general revenues
Total revenues

2018
Business Type
Activities

2018
Governmental
Type Activities

2017
Business Type
Activities

2017
Governmental
Type Activities

$

$

$

$

3,344,075

-

3,095,301

-

5,732
46,000,000
2,598,700
48,604,432
51,948,507

19,338,488
72,455
19,410,943
19,410,943

2,005
26,000,000
1,016,289
27,018,294
30,113,595

22,055,613
33,148
22,088,761
22,088,761

Expenses
General & administrative
Interest on long-term debt
Bond issue costs
Infrastructure & economic
development
Loss on uncollectible loans
Transfers (in) out
Total expenses

802,289
6,744,292
-

6,884,193
-

802,790
8,339,703
-

8,019,096
208,713

20,285,164
9,753,754
(33,730)
37,551,769

33,730
6,917,923

15,917,162
544,000
(224,710)
25,378,945

224,710
8,452,519

Changes in net position

14,396,738

12,493,020

4,734,650

13,636,242

615,158,620

(180,813,176)

610,423,970

(194,449,418)

(70,060)

-

-

-

615,088,560
$ 629,485,298

$ (168,320,156)

$ 615,158,620

$ (180,813,176)

Beginning net position
(deficit)
Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle
Beginning Net Position,
restated
Ending net position (deficit)

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNCIL AS A WHOLE (Continued)
Cash equivalents, which include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90
days or less, increased $2.5 million, from $140.8 million last year to $143.3 million at the end of the
current year. The increase in cash was primarily the result of an increase in investment earnings of $1.6
million, interest on loans, principal repayments of loans, receipt of $46 million in Excess Lottery funds,
and a transfer of $5.4 million from investments to cash equivalents.
Offsetting these increases were expenses for loans and grants totaling $49 million, as well as
contributions of the State Matching fund for the federally sponsored Drinking Water Treatment
Revolving Fund and Clean Water State Revolving Fund, principal and interest payments on outstanding
bonds payable, and general and administrative expenses.
Investments decreased $4 million due to transferring $5.4 million to cash equivalents offset by
investment earnings.
Assets held by others decreased $206 thousand due to the sale of the Winterburn property by the West
Virginia Water Development Authority on behalf of the Infrastructure Jobs and Development Council.
Loans receivable increased $9 million. This increase was primarily the combined effect of
disbursements of new and prior year loan funds to projects of approximately $40 million, less
repayments of principal on loans of approximately $21 million, offset by an increase in the allowance
for uncollectible loans of $7 million for two economic development loans that have forgivable features.
Deferred outflows of resources decreased $801 thousand which was the result of current year
amortizations of loss on refundings in the amount of $740 thousand, and a decrease in the deferred
outflow of resources for pension expense and pension contributions in the amount of $65 thousand.
This was offset by an increase in the deferred outflow of resources for OPEB expense and OPEB
contributions in the amount of $3 thousand due to the implementation of GASB 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions which is explained further in
Notes 5 and 12.
Total liabilities decreased $20 million primarily due to a net decrease in bonds payable from the
previous year. Bonds payable increased by current year accretion of $3 million and decreased by $21
million due to current year principal repayments.
Deferred inflows of resources increased by $32 thousand due to the current year pension activity and
the addition of the deferred inflows from OPEB due to the implementation of GASB 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.
Restrictions of net position are the result of constraints placed on the use of net position which have
been imposed externally through debt covenants and by law through enabling legislation. Restricted net
position increased approximately $28 million during the current year. That increase can be explained
primarily as follows: mineral severance tax revenue of $19.3 million, excess lottery funds of $6 million
to pay debt service on the Chesapeake Bay bonds, and a transfer from the unrestricted funds of $42.5
million for loan disbursements. Offsetting the increases were disbursements of $33 million of principal
and interest expense related to revenue and general obligation bonds and grant disbursements of $9.5
million. Transfers from restricted accounts included interest earnings on accounts funded with residual
mineral severance tax revenue and earnings on accounts funded with State appropriations of excess
(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNCIL AS A WHOLE (Continued)
lottery revenue and earnings on debt service reserve funds. As provided by enabling legislation, the
earnings on those restricted accounts were transferred to the unrestricted revenue account and various
rebate accounts and were used, in part, to pay operating expenses of the Council.
Unrestricted Net Position for business type activities as of June 30, 2018 is $7.8 million, a decrease
from the prior year of approximately $13.6 million. This is due to the receipt of excess lottery revenue
of $40 million offset by an internal transfer within the business type activities to restricted funds of
$42.5 million, payment of general and administrative expenses of $802 thousand, and $10.8 million for
the State Match of the federally sponsored Drinking Water Treatment Revolving Fund and the Clean
Water State Revolving Fund.
Fund Balance/Government-wide Net Position The only activity reported in the governmental fund
relates to future payments of the General Obligation Bonds which mature through fiscal year 2027. See
Note 9 in the Notes to the Financial Statements for further detail. Although the governmental fund
reports a deficit, an amount not to exceed $22.25 million of intergovernmental revenue is statutorily
provided every year by the State of West Virginia from excess mineral severance tax in order to pay the
debt service for the General Obligation Bonds. The total government - wide net position as of June 30,
2018, is $461 million.
Charges for services consist of interest earnings on loans to projects which increased during the current
year by $249 thousand. Loans receivable had a net increase of $9 million during the current year and
loans that are repaying have a nominal interest rate.
Intergovernmental activity consists of $19.3 million mineral severance tax revenue and $46 million
excess lottery revenue, both appropriated from the State. The mineral severance tax revenue was
received from the State’s general fund into the Debt Service Fund to pay the general obligation bonds
debt service payments required in fiscal year 2018. Excess lottery revenue represents the amount in the
State’s lottery fund in the State Treasury appropriated by the Legislature to the Council for loans, grants
and other funding assistance, as well as payment of debt service on the 2014 Series bonds, issued to
provide grants for the Chesapeake Bay and Greenbrier Watershed projects.
Investment earnings consist of earnings on excess lottery revenue and earnings on repayments of
principal and interest on loans to projects. Investment earnings also include earnings on committed but
not yet disbursed excess lottery proceeds and earnings on mineral severance tax revenue that is invested
prior to payment of debt service on the general obligation bonds. Subsequent to the payment of debt
service, any residual mineral severance tax revenue is transferred to the business type activity fund and
then invested accordingly.
Investment earnings increased $1.6 million from the prior year. Interest rates for the money market
accounts increased during the fiscal year and a diversified portfolio consisting of US Treasury Notes
and corporate bonds resulted in higher earnings.
Interest on long-term debt decreased approximately $2.7 million. The decrease is the result of lower
interest rates obtained from several bond refundings in recent years.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNCIL AS A WHOLE (Continued)
Infrastructure and economic development activity consists of grants paid to projects, binding
commitments as well as the contributions for the required State match for the federally sponsored
Drinking Water Treatment Revolving Fund and the Clean Water State Revolving Fund. The current
year disbursement of State Matching funds was approximately $10.7 million consisting of $1.6 million
allocated to the Drinking Water Treatment Revolving Fund and $9.1 million was allocated to the Clean
Water State Revolving Fund, of which $5 million is applicable to fiscal year 2019. As of year-end, the
Council has 15 binding commitments. These include 6 loans and 9 grants for which the funds are
committed and not disbursed as described in Note 16 to the financial statements.
Loss on uncollectible loans increased $9.2 million due to an allowance for two Economic Development
loans that have forgivable features and it is more likely than not that certain crietria will be met in future
years to permit the write off of those two loans.
BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
West Virginia Code §29-22-18a (Section 18a) created within the State’s lottery fund in the State
Treasury an excess lottery revenue fund from which moneys are disbursed in specific allocations to
various State accounts, including the Council.
Section 18a and related subsections of the West Virginia Code provide for certain deposits to accounts
available to the Council for debt service payments and to fund water, wastewater, and economic
development projects. Deposits for debt service payments are to be made during each fiscal year in the
amount of $6 million. For the year ended June 30, 2018, deposits of $40 million were made for water,
wastewater, and economic development projects, with no more than 20% of the funds deposited to be
spent on grants. For the year ended June 30, 2019, $40 million is to be deposited for projects and
includes the stipulation that no more than 20% of the funds deposited may be spend for grants. Section
18a also includes language establishing the priority of deposits for these purposes and prescribes the
timing of the deposits.
In accordance to Senate Bill 1013, $46 million was appropriated to the West Virginia Infrastructure
Council during fiscal year 2018 with the first $6 million to be used for debt service on the Series 2014
bonds that were issued for the Chesapeake Bay and Greenbrier Watershed projects and the remaining
$40 million to be used for water, wastewater and economic development projects around the state.
DEBT ADMINISTRATION
The Infrastructure General Obligation Bonds and Refunding Bonds constitute a direct and general
obligation of the State, and the full faith and credit of the State is pledged to secure the payment of the
principal and interest on such bonds. The debt service on such general obligation bonds is paid from the
dedication of mineral severance taxes in the State’s general fund.
The West Virginia Water Development Authority (the Authority) is authorized to issue, on behalf of the
Council, infrastructure and refunding bonds, which do not constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and
credit of the State, for the purpose of providing funds to enable the Council to finance the acquisition or
construction of water, wastewater and infrastructure projects. The debt service on such infrastructure
bonds are paid from repayments of principal and interest on a set of defined loans previously made by
the Authority on behalf of the Council.
(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
DEBT ADMINISTRATION (Continued)
At year-end, $323 million (prior to amortization) in general obligation, revenue and refunding bonds
issued for the benefit of the Council were outstanding versus $341 million in the prior year, a decrease
of 5% resulting from scheduled principal payments and the offset by current year accreted interest on
capital appreciation bonds. For more information on long-term debt, please refer to Note 9 of the
financial statements.
As of June 30, 2018, the State of West Virginia, Infrastructure General Obligation Bonds Series 1996A
had a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA-. The State of West Virginia Infrastructure General Obligation
Refunding Bonds Series 2011A, Series 2015A, Series 2015B and Series 2017 had a Standard & Poor’s
rating of AA-. The bond insurer, National Public Finance Guarantee Corporation, had a rating by
Standard & Poor’s of A.
As of June 30, 2018, the West Virginia Water Development Authority, Infrastructure Revenue
Refunding Bonds Series 2012A and Series 2016A had a Moody’s rating of A1 and a Fitch rating of A+.
As of June 30, 2018, the West Virginia Water Development Authority, Infrastructure Excess Lottery
Revenue Bonds Series 2014A had a rating by Standard & Poor’s of AAA.
The ratings, or lack thereof, of the bond insurers did not result in any event of default and does not
affect the fixed interest rates paid on its’ bonds issued on its behalf by the Authority. Any downward
revision or withdrawal of any such rating could have an adverse effect on the secondary market price of
the bonds issued on its’ behalf by the Authority. The outstanding revenue bonds, except for Series 2011
which was issued with a rating of AA, by Standard & Poor’s, were originally issued with a rating of
AAA by Standard & Poor’s on the understanding that the standard insurance policy purchased
guaranteed the timely payment of principal and interest on the bonds. There is no assurance that a
particular rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn
entirely if, in the judgment of Standard & Poor’s, circumstances so warrant.
The Authority’s (and thereby, the Council’s bonds) underlying rating of AA- from Standard & Poor’s
reflects the State’s moral obligation, which is one full category below the State’s A rating. Ultimately,
rating strength is provided by the pledge to maintain a debt service reserve fund equal to the maximum
annual debt service on all outstanding bonds and servicing of underlying loans. If the amount in the
reserve funds falls below the required maximum annual debt service level, the Governor, on notification
by the Authority, may request the State’s Legislature to appropriate the necessary funds to replenish the
reserve to its required level. The State’s Legislature, however, is not legally required to make such
appropriation.
The Council continues to monitor the status of the bond insurers and is considering options for issuance
of future bonds without an insurance policy.
FACTORS WHICH MAY AFFECT THE COUNCIL
Currently known facts, decisions or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on financial
position or results of operations (revenues, expenses, and other changes in fund balance and net
position) include several factors.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)
FACTORS WHICH MAY AFFECT THE COUNCIL (Continued)
The Legislature appropriated to the Council $46 million for fiscal year 2019 from the excess lottery
revenue fund. This amount is contingent on revenue collected from state video lottery operations
meeting expected projections; therefore, the Council may receive up to $40 million to provide additional
loans, grants and other funding assistance and an additional $6 million restricted for debt service on
bonds issued to fund Chesapeake Bay and Greenbrier Watershed projects.
There are several other factors which are unknown that may affect the Council. These factors include
changes in existing legislation and regulations, amounts collected in the excess lottery fund, market
conditions that could impact investment income or affect the viability of issuing additional revenue
bonds, and economic conditions that may affect the repayment of Council loans.
Due to the uncertainty on the future repayment of these loans, as well as other economic development
project loans, the Council maintains a reserve for uncollectible economic development project loans to
recognize current events.
CONTACTING THE COUNCIL’S MANAGEMENT
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Council’s finances and to show
the Council’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need
additional financial information, contact the Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer, West
Virginia Water Development Authority, 1009 Bullitt Street, Charleston, West Virginia 25301 (Phone:
304-414-6500) or the Executive Director, West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council,
1009 Bullitt Street, Charleston, West Virginia 25301 (Phone: 304-414-6500).
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Year Ended June 30, 2018
Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Cash equivalents (Note 7)
Investments (Notes 7 and 8)
Accrued interest receivable
Loans receivable, net of allowances of $23,663,754
Miscellaneous receivable
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Losses on bond refundings
Deferred outflows of resources from OPEB (Note 12)
Deferred outflows of resources from pensions (Note 11)

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to other State of West Virginia agencies (Note 10)
Accrued interest payable
Net OPEB liability (Note 12)
Net pension liability (Note 11)
General obligation bonds (Note 9)
Due within one year, net of unamortized
premium of $1,593,873

Business Type
Activities

Total

$

24
-

$

143,343,746
95,922,505
2,471,844
568,197,623
17,241

$

143,343,770
95,922,505
2,471,844
568,197,623
17,241

$

24

$

809,952,959

$

809,952,983

$

5,493,428
-

$

983,593
3,345
33,088

$

6,477,021
3,345
33,088

$

5,493,428

$

1,020,026

$

6,513,454

$

715,690
-

$

10,929
210,486
2,714,800
50,460
55,576

$

10,929
210,486
3,430,490
50,460
55,576

18,073,873

-

18,073,873

155,024,045

-

155,024,045

Revenue bonds (Note 9)
Due within one year, net of unamortized
premium of $835,085

-

6,350,085

6,350,085

Due after one year, net of unamortized
premium of $14,765,056

-

172,045,056

172,045,056

Due after one year, net of unamortized
premium of $11,234,056

Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferrend inflows of resources from OPEB (Note 12)
Deferrend inflows of resources from pensions (Note 11)

$

173,813,608

$

181,437,392

$

355,251,000

$

-

$

19,343
30,952

$

19,343
30,952

$

-

$

50,295

$

50,295

24
(168,320,180)

$

621,723,250
7,762,048

$

621,723,274
(160,558,132)

$ (168,320,156)

$

629,485,298

$

461,165,142

NET POSITION
Net position:
Restricted (Note 15)
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
11

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Functions/Programs
Governmental activities:
Interest and bond issuance costs
on long-term debt

Business-type activities:
Infrastructure and jobs development
Total primary government

Program
Revenue

Expenses

$

6,884,193

Net (Expenses) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position
Governmental
Business-Type
Activities
Activities

$

-

37,585,499

3,344,075

$ 44,469,692

$ 3,344,075

$

(6,884,193) $

-

-

Total

$

(34,241,424)

(6,884,193)

(34,241,424)

$

(6,884,193) $ (34,241,424) $ (41,125,617)

$

19,338,488 $
72,455
(33,730)

46,000,000
5,732
2,598,700
33,730

Total general revenues and transfers

19,377,213

48,638,162

68,015,375

Change in net position

12,493,020

14,396,738

26,889,758

(180,813,176)

615,158,620

434,345,444

(180,813,176)

(70,060)
615,088,560

(70,060)
434,275,384

General revenues:
Intergovernmental (Note 10)
Other
Investment earnings
Transfers in (out)

Net position, beginning of year
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle (Note 5)
Net position, beginning of year as restated
Net position, end of year

$ (168,320,156) $ 629,485,298

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

65,338,488
5,732
2,671,155
-

$ 461,165,142

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUND
June 30, 2018

Debt Service
Fund
ASSETS
Cash

$

24

FUND BALANCE
Restricted fund balance

$

24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - GOVERNMENTAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Debt Service
Fund
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental (Note 10)
Investment earnings
Total revenues

$

EXPENDITURES:
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

14,905,000
4,472,312
19,377,312

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers out
Total other financing uses

(33,730)
(33,730)

Net change in fund balance

(99)

FUND BALANCE, beginning
FUND BALANCE, ending

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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19,338,488
72,455
19,410,943

123
$

24

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Enterprise Fund
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash equivalents
Investments (Notes 7 and 8)
Current portion of loans receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Miscellaneous receivable
Total current assets

$

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Loans receivable, net of allowances of $23,663,754
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources from OPEB (Note 12)
Deferred outflows of resources from pensions (Note 11)
Loss on bond refundings

545,407,642
545,407,642
$

809,952,959

$

3,345
33,088
983,593
1,020,026

$
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to other State of West Virginia agencies (Note 10)
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of revenue bonds payable, net of unamortized
premium of $835,085 (Note 9)
Total current liabilities

$

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources from OPEB (Note 12)
Deferred inflows of resources from pensions (Note 11)

50,460
55,576
172,045,056
$

181,437,392

$

19,343
30,952
50,295

$
NET POSITION
Restricted (Note 15)
Unrestricted
Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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10,929
210,486
2,714,800
6,350,085
9,286,300

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Net OPEB liability (Note 12)
Net pension liability (Note 11)
Noncurrent portion of revenue bonds payable, net of unamortized
premium of $14,765,056 (Note 9)
Total liabilities

143,343,746
95,922,505
22,789,981
2,471,844
17,241
264,545,317

$

621,723,250
7,762,048

$

629,485,298

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Enterprise Fund
INTEREST CHARGES FOR SERVICES

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Infrastructure and economic development
Provisions for uncollectible loans
General and administrative (Note 13)

3,344,075

20,285,164
9,753,754
802,289

Total operating expenses

30,841,207

Operating loss

(27,497,132)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Miscellaneous income
Intergovernmental (Note 10)
Investment earnings, net
Interest on bonds

5,732
46,000,000
2,598,700
(6,744,292)

Total nonoperating revenues, net

41,860,140

Transfers in

33,730

Change in net position

14,396,738

NET POSITION, beginning
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (Note 5)
NET POSITION, beginning as restated
NET POSITION, ending

615,158,620
(70,060)
615,088,560
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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629,485,298

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Enterprise Fund
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts of principal on loans
Receipts of interest on loans
Disbursements of loans
Disbursements of grants
Disbursements of general and administrative expenses
Disbursements on behalf of employees
Net cash used in operations

$

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers
Proceeds from sale of assets held by others
Excess lottery and other appropriations
Principal paid on revenue bonds
Interest paid on revenue bonds
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

33,730
5,732
46,000,000
(6,060,000)
(7,580,124)
32,399,338

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Investment earnings
Net cash provided by investing activities

(271,550,526)
275,936,534
2,300,261
6,686,269

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

2,506,050

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, ending
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss
Adjustment to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Provision for loan losses
Pension expense
OPEB expense
Noncash OPEB contribution support
Changes in operating accounts:
Due to other agencies
Assets held by others
Loans receivable
Miscellaneous receivables
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts payable
Deferred outflows of resources due to pension contributions
Deferred outflows of resources due to OPEB contributions
Net cash used in operating activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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20,979,571
3,212,343
(39,858,974)
(20,285,164)
(310,198)
(317,135)
(36,579,557)

140,837,696
$

143,343,746

$

(27,497,132)

9,753,754
(19,274)
2,925
(3,182)
42,778
206,000
(18,879,403)
218
(131,950)
(24,559)
(26,387)
(3,345)
$

(36,579,557)

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 1.

Reporting Entity
The West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council (the Council) was created as a
governmental entity of the State of West Virginia (the State) under the provisions of Chapter 31,
Article 15A, Section 3 of the Code of West Virginia, 1931, as amended, and known as the West
Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Act (the Act). The Council has statutory responsibility
to review the preliminary applications for wastewater facilities, water facilities or combination
projects, or infrastructure projects seeking State funding and to either make a written recommendation
as to the infrastructure project financing, in terms of the kind, amount and source of funding, which
the project sponsor should pursue and which the State infrastructure agency or agencies should
consider an appropriate investment of public funds, or a determination that the project or
infrastructure project is not eligible for funding assistance from any State infrastructure agency or the
project or infrastructure project is not otherwise an appropriate or prudent investment of State funds,
and make a recommendation that the project sponsor not seek funding from any State infrastructure
agency.
The Council consists of thirteen voting members, including the Governor or their designee as
chairman and executive representation from the Housing Development Fund, Department of
Environmental Protection, Economic Development Authority, Water Development Authority (the
Authority), Bureau for Public Health, Public Service Commission and six members representing the
general public. The Authority serves as the administrative agency for the Council, is the fiduciary
agent of the West Virginia Infrastructure Fund and is authorized to issue infrastructure revenue and
refunding bonds on behalf of the Council.
As the state is able to impose its will over the Council, the Council is included in the State’s
comprehensive annual financial report as an enterprise fund.

Note 2.

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the government. The effect of
inter-fund activity has been eliminated from these statements. Governmental activities, which
normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.
Separate financial statements are provided for the governmental fund and the enterprise fund, which
are reported as separate columns in the government-wide financial statements.

Note 3.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the
timing of related cash flows.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 3.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as
they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.
The government reports the following major governmental fund:
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, principal
and interest on long term debt.
The government reports the following major proprietary fund:
The Enterprise Fund accounts for the operations of certain lending activities that are financed with
debt, which is secured by a pledge of fees and charges for that activity. In addition, a grant program
for watershed improvements was funded with proceeds of a bond issue. The debt service on the bond
issue is to be paid from annual appropriations of funds from an external revenue source.
The effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating
revenues of the proprietary fund are interest on loans receivable. Operating expenses for the
proprietary fund includes the cost of services and administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses
not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Note 4.

Significant Accounting Policies
Budgetary accounting
Except for excess lottery revenue appropriated to the enterprise fund for expenditure and mineral
severance taxes appropriated to the debt service fund for debt service, the Council’s funds are not
subject to the Legislative budget process.
Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents include investments with original maturities of less than ninety days.
Investments
All investments are reported in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
and are carried at either cost, amortized cost, contract value, or fair value as applicable.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 4.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Allowance for uncollectible loans
The Council uses the allowance method of providing for loan losses on economic development
project loans. The provision for loan losses charged to operating expense is based on factors which
deserve current recognition in estimating possible losses, such as growth and composition of the loan
portfolio, relationship of the allowance for uncollectible loans to outstanding loans, current financial
condition of the borrowers, changes in specific industries, and overall economic conditions.
Because of uncertainties in the estimation process, including local and industry economic conditions,
as well as collateral values, it is reasonably possible that management’s estimate of losses in the loan
portfolio for economic development projects and the related allowance may materially change in the
near term. The amount of the change that is reasonably possible, however, cannot be estimated.
The Council has not established an allowance for uncollectible loans in its loan portfolio for water and
wastewater projects because of remedies available to it in the loan agreements that exist between the
Authority on behalf of the Council and the various entities to which the loans were made.
Inter-fund transactions
During the normal course of Council operations, transfers of resources to provide services take place
between funds. Inter-fund transactions are recorded as transfers as determined by Council
management.
Bond premiums, discounts and issuance costs
Bond premiums and discounts are amortized using the straight-line method over the varying terms of
the bonds issued. The straight-line method is not in accordance with GAAP, but the difference in
amortization using the straight-line method, versus the effective interest method which is in
accordance with GAAP, is not material to the financial statements as a whole. Bond issuance costs
are expensed as incurred.
Deferred outflows of resources / deferred inflows of resources
The statement of net position reports a separate financial statement element called deferred outflows
of resources. This financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to
a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that time. The
council reports losses on bond refundings, certain pension amounts, and certain OPEB amounts as
deferred outflows of resources on the statement of net position.
The statement of net position reports a separate financial statement element called deferred inflows of
resources. This financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a
future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The
Council reports deferred inflows of resources related to gains on bond refundings, pensions, and
OPEB on the statement of net position.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 4.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Pension
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
West Virginia Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) and additions to/deductions from PERS
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PERS. For this
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments in the PERS are reported at fair value.
Postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB)
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the West Virginia Retiree Health Benefit Trust OPEB Plan (RHBT) and additions
to/deductions from RHBT's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by RHBT. For this purpose, RHBT recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except for certain pooled
investments, money market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts that
have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at amortized cost.
Arbitrage rebate payable
The United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), prescribes restrictions
applicable to the Council as issuer of Infrastructure Fund Revenue and Refunding Bonds. Among
those include restrictions on earnings on the bond proceeds. The Code requires payment to the federal
government of investment earnings on certain bond proceeds in excess of the amount that would have
been earned if the proceeds were invested at a rate equal to the yield on the bonds. As of June 30,
2018, the Council is not liable to the federal government as a result of arbitrage.
Fund balances
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance has been reported as restricted. Restricted
fund balances represent fund balances which are restricted by constraints placed on its use of
resources by either: (1) externally imposed creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments or (2) imposed by law through constitutional provisions and enabling legislation.
The Council’s governmental fund is restricted by enabling legislation.
Net position
Net position is presented as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted net position represents assets
restricted for the repayment of bond proceeds or by bond covenants. When an expense is incurred for
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available, restricted resources are
applied first.
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 5.

Cumulative Effect of Adoption of Accounting Principle
Effective July 1, 2017, the Council adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
other than Pensions. The Council determined that it was not practical to restate all periods presented
and has recorded the cumulative effect of the decrease to beginning net position of implementing this
change of $70,060 as of July 1, 2017, which is the net OPEB liability of $74,275 less deferred
outflows of resources related to OPEB contributions of $4,215 as of that date. The Council further
determined that it was not practical to determine the amounts of all deferred inflows of resources and
deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB as of July 1, 2017 and these amounts are not reported.

Note 6.

Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements
Amounts reported in the statement of net position differ from the governmental fund balance sheet
because of the following:
Total fund balance on governmental fund balance sheet

$

24

Under the current financial resources measurement focus
and modified accrual basis of accounting, liabilities
related to debt service are not recorded until due
and are not included in the governmental funds
balance sheet:
Deferred outflows of resources

5,493,428

General obligation bonds

(173,097,918)

Accrued interest on general obligation bonds
Net position (deficit) of governmental activities

(715,690)
$ (168,320,156)

Amounts reported in the statement of activities differ from the statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balance - governmental fund because of the following:
Net change in fund balance - governmental fund

$

(99)

Principal debt payments recorded on the modified
accrual basis of accounting are not recorded
in the governmental activities

14,905,000

Accretion of interest related to capital
appreciation bonds is an expense
of the governmental activities

(2,411,881)

Change in net position of governmental activities

22

$

12,493,020

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 7.

Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures
The Authority, as fiscal agent for the Council, adopted and adheres to investment guidelines for the
Council. Those guidelines and the General Revenue Bond Resolution authorize the Council to invest
all bond proceeds and other revenues in obligations of the United States and certain of its agencies,
certificates of deposit, public housing bonds, direct and general obligations of states which are rated
in either of the two highest categories by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, advance-refunded
municipal bonds and repurchase agreements relating to certain securities. With the exception of
deposits and investments of the General Obligation Debt Service Fund, investments are managed by
the financial institution serving as trustee for the Council.
As required by West Virginia Code, the mineral severance tax revenue appropriated annually for debt
service on the general obligation bonds is deposited in the General Obligation Debt Service Fund held
by the Treasurer of the State of West Virginia and is invested in accordance with the Act and in
conformity with investment guidelines of the Board of Treasury Investments (BTI). The Council’s
Debt Service Fund, which is included in the General Obligation Debt Service Fund’s cash balances,
reports a carrying amount of $24 at June 30, 2018.
Interest rate risk - West Virginia Money Market Pool
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. The West Virginia Money Market Pool is subject to interest rate risk.
The overall weighted average maturity of the investments of the West Virginia Money Market Pool
cannot exceed 60 days. Maximum maturity of individual securities cannot exceed 397 days from date
of purchase, except for government floating rate notes, which can be up to 762 days. The following
table provides information on the weighted average maturities for the various asset types in the WV
Money Market Pool:
Carrying Value
(In Thousands)

Security Type
Repurchase agreements
U.S. Treasury notes
U.S. Treasury bills
Commercial paper
Negotiable certificates of deposit
Corporate bonds and notes
Money market funds

(Continued)
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$

227,800
90,330
252,084
1,868,900
663,801
18,078
143,067
$ 3,264,060

WAM
(Days)
3
73
69
36
29
21
3
34

WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 7.

Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (Continued)
Interest rate risk - all other investments
As of June 30, 2018, the Council had the following investments and maturities:
Investment Maturities
(in Years)
Investment Type

Carrying
Value

Less than 1

1-5

U.S. Treasury obligations
(carried at fair value)
Corporate bonds (carried at fair value)
Money markets (carried at amortized cost)

$ 87,023,050
8,899,455
143,343,746

$ 74,686,100
1,492,185
143,343,746

$ 12,336,950
7,407,270
-

$239,266,251

$219,522,031

$19,744,220

As a means of limiting its exposure to carrying value losses arising from rising interest rates, the
Authority’s investment guidelines for the Council limit the maturities of investments not matched to a
specific debt or obligation of the Council to five years or less, unless otherwise approved by the
Authority.
Investments matched to obligations of the Council would include investments of reserve funds for
each of the Authority’s outstanding revenue and refunding bond issues. The General Revenue Bond
Resolution requires that, while the bonds are outstanding, there be on deposit in the reserve funds an
amount equal to the maximum amount of principal installments and interest coming due during the
current or any succeeding year. The Council has both the intent and the ability to hold long-term
securities until final maturity and thus is limited in its exposure to interest rate risk on these long-term
obligations.
Concentration of credit risk - West Virginia Money Market Pool
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an investment in a single
corporate issuer. The BTI investment policy prohibits the West Virginia Money Market Pool from
investing more than 5% of their assets in any one corporate name or one corporate issue. The West
Virginia Money Market Pool is not exposed to concentration of credit risk.
Concentration of credit risk - all other investments
The Authority’s investment guidelines for the Council manage concentration of credit risk by limiting
its investment activity so that at any time its total investment portfolio will not exceed the percentage
limits as to the permitted investments. The enterprise fund investment portfolio’s percentage of
permitted investments is shown below:

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 7.

Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (Continued)

Permitted Investments
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)

Direct Federal Obligations
Federally Guaranteed Obligations
Federal Agency Obligations
Money Markets
Repurchase Agreements/Investment
Contracts
Time Deposits/Certificates of Deposit
Demand Deposits
Corporate Obligations
Other State/Local Obligations
West Virginia Obligations
Housing Bonds – Secured by Annual
Contributions Contracts

Maximum
Percentage
of Portfolio

Enterprise Fund
Percentage as of
June 30, 2018

100%
100%
90%
90%

36.37%
59.91%

90%
90%
30%
15%
15%
15%

3.72%
-

5%

-

With the exception of money market funds, repurchase agreements/investment contracts, time
deposits/certificates of deposit and demand deposits, investments that comprise more than 15% of the
investment portfolio must be direct federal, federal agency or federally guaranteed obligations.
All other investments listed above that comprise more than 15% of the investment portfolio must be
either provided by an institution with a rating of at least “A/A” by Moody’s and/or Standard and
Poor’s, invested in a money market fund rated “AAAm” or “AAAm-G” or better by Standard and
Poor’s, secured by obligations of the United States or not exceed the insurance limits established by
the FDIC unless adequate collateral is provided.
Credit risk - West Virginia Money Market Pool
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The WV Money Market Pool has been rated AAAm by the Standard & Poor’s. A fund
rated “AAAm” has extremely strong capacity to maintain principal stability and to limit exposure to
principal losses due to credit, market and/or liquidity risks. “AAAm” is the highest principal stability
fund rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s. The BTI itself has not been rated for credit risk by any
organization.
The BTI limits the exposure to credit risk in the WV Money Market Pool by requiring all corporate
bonds to be rated A+ by Standard & Poor’s (or its equivalent) or higher. Short-term corporate debt
must be rated at least A-1 by Standard & Poor’s and P-1 by Moody’s. The pool must have at least
15% of its assets in U.S. Treasury obligations or obligations guaranteed as to repayment of interest
and principal by the United States of America. The following table provides information on the credit
ratings of the WV Money Market Pool’s investments (in thousands):

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 7.

Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (Continued)
Credit Rating
Security Type
Commercial paper

Corporate bonds and notes
U.S. Treasury notes *
U.S. Treasury bills *
Negotiable certificates of deposit
Money market funds
Repurchase agreements
(underlying securities):
U.S. agency bonds and notes

Moody’s

S&P

P-1
P-1
P-2
P-1
Aaa
P-1
P-1
P-1
Aaa

A-1+
A-1
A-1
A-1
AA+
A-1+
A-1+
A-1
AAAm

Aaa

AA+

Carrying
Value
$

Percent of
Pool Assets

473,172
1,351,128
44,600
18,078
90,330
252,084
205,501
458,300
143,067

14.5%
41.39
1.37
0.55
2.77
7.72
6.30
14.04
4.38

227,800
$

6.98

3,264,060

100.00%

*U.S. Treasury issues are explicitly guaranteed by the United States government and are not
considered to have credit risk.
Credit risk - all other investments
The table below provides information on the credit ratings of the Council’s cash equivalents and
investments:

Security Type
Money markets
U.S. Treasury Obligations
Corporate Bonds
West Virginia Money Market Pool

Moody's
Aaa-mf
P-1
P-1
-

Standard &
Poors
AAAm
A-1+
A-1+
AAAm

Carrying Value
$
143,343,746
87,023,050
8,899,455
24
$

239,266,275

*US Treasury issues are explicitly guaranteed by the United States government and are not subject
to credit risk.

(Continued)
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WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2018
Note 7.

Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (Continued)
Credit risk with investment of bond proceeds is managed by the limitation on investment of those
proceeds in the following types of debt securities in accordance with the Authority’s investment
guidelines for the Council and the authorizing General Revenue Bond Resolution: Government
obligations, obligations of certain federal agencies, either representing the full faith and credit of the
United States of America or which are rated Aaa-mf by Moody’s and AAAm by Standard and Poor’s,
certain types of commercial paper, advance-refunded municipal bonds, certain general obligations of
the State of West Virginia or any other state, or other forms of investments approved in writing by the
applicable bond insurer, if any.
Accordingly, the credit risk with the investment of cash assets other than bond proceeds, known as
“other revenues,” is managed by the limitation on investment of other revenues in the following types
of debt securities in accordance with the Authority’s investment guidelines for the Council: direct
obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of America, the State of West Virginia
or any other state, provided that obligations of other states meet certain requirements, obligations of
certain federal agencies, certain types of indebtedness of public agencies or municipalities, corporate
indebtedness meeting certain requirements or any other debt security investment permitted with bond
proceeds.
Custodial credit risk - West Virginia Money Market Pool
For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty,
the BTI will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. Repurchase agreements are required to be collateralized by at least
102% of their value, and the collateral is held in the name of the BTI. In all transactions, the BTI or
its agent does not release cash or securities until the counterparty delivers its side of the transaction.
Custodial credit risk - all other investments
The Authority’s investment guidelines for the Council put certain restrictions on repurchase
agreements, including the following: the Council can only enter into repurchase agreements with
financial institutions having a credit rating of at least “A/A”; collateral is limited to direct federal,
federally guaranteed or federal agency obligations; collateral is required to be delivered to a thirdparty custodian, the Council or the trustee; and, the financial institution must guarantee the aggregate
market value of the collateral will equal or exceed the outstanding repurchase agreement by the
margin specified in the respective repurchase agreement. As of June 30, 2018, the Council held no
securities that were subject to custodial credit risk.
Foreign currency risk - all investments
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of
an investment or a deposit. There are no securities that are subject to foreign currency risk.
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Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (Continued)
A reconciliation of investments as disclosed in this Note to the amounts reported on the Statement of
Net Position - Proprietary Fund is as follows:
As disclosed in this Note:
Total investments
Less: cash equivalents

$ 239,266,251
(143,343,746)

Carrying amount of investments
As reported on the Statement of Net Position Proprietary Fund:
Investments
Note 8.

$

95,922,505

$

95,922,505

Investments Measured at Fair Value
The Council measures the investments listed below at fair value for financial reporting purposes.
GAAP defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a
market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement. The Council categorizes fair value
measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by GAAP.
The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three levels as follows:
Level 1 inputs - Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets that a government can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs - Other than quoted prices included within Level 1, these are inputs that are
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 inputs - Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3
inputs.
U.S. Treasury obligations and corporate bonds are reported at fair value, which is determined by a
third-party pricing service based on an asset portfolio pricing models and other sources.
The table below summarizes the recurring fair value measurements of the investment securities based
on the fair value hierarchy as of June 30, 2018.
Investment Type
U.S. Treasury obligations
Corporate Bonds

$

Level 1
-

Level 2
$ 87,023,050
8,899,455

$

-

Total
$ 87,023,050
8,899,455

Total

$

-

$ 95,922,505

$

-

$ 95,922,505
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Long-Term Debt
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2018:
Balance
July 1, 2017

Governmental fund type:
General Obligation Bonds
1996 Series A & D
1999 Series A Capital
Appreciation
2011 Series A Refunding
2015 Series A Refunding
2015 Series B Refunding
2017 Series Refunding
Proprietary fund type:
Revenue and Refunding Bonds
2012 Series A Refunding
2014 Series A
2016 Series A Refunding

Total

$

Additions/
Accretions

5,030,000

$

Debt
Reductions
-

$

2,440,000

Balance
June 30, 2018

$

2,590,000

66,204,908
3,420,000
65,965,000
2,910,000
28,215,000
171,744,908

3,430,081
3,430,081

7,075,000
1,650,000
2,300,000
1,440,000
14,905,000

62,559,989
1,770,000
63,665,000
1,470,000
28,215,000
160,269,989

24,435,000
70,100,000
74,320,000
168,855,000

-

695,000
2,490,000
2,875,000
6,060,000

23,740,000
67,610,000
71,445,000
162,795,000

20,965,000

$ 323,064,989

$ 340,599,908

$

3,430,081

$

Debt service fund
The proceeds from the Council’s bond programs, which originated with a 1994 Constitutional
Amendment authorizing the issuance of $300,000,000 in Infrastructure General Obligation Bonds,
provide financial assistance to infrastructure and economic development projects throughout the state.
All general obligation bonds are considered a moral obligation of the State of West Virginia. The
source of repayment for the general obligation, capital appreciation, and refunding bonds is the
annual receipt of $19.3 million of mineral severance tax revenue deposited into the Governmental
Fund from the State’s general fund. Principal, net of accretion, and interest paid on these bonds were
$14,905,000 and $4,472,313, respectively for the year ended June 30, 2018.
Future maturities of general obligation bonds and capital appreciation bonds, with interest rates
ranging from 2.0% to 7.625% and maturing through 2027, are as follows:
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Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Principal
9,455,000
9,685,000
10,020,000
10,420,000
10,955,000
50,535,000

Interest
$ 4,076,969
3,687,475
3,290,925
2,809,900
2,282,975
16,148,244

Total
$ 13,531,969
13,372,475
13,310,925
13,229,900
13,237,975
66,683,244

47,175,000

4,138,775

51,313,775

97,710,000

$ 20,287,019

$ 117,997,019

Principal, net of
amounts to be
accreted in future
years
$
6,898,611
7,976,009
7,598,827
7,280,957
6,876,696
36,631,100

Amounts to be
accreted in
future years
$
126,389
598,991
1,026,173
1,444,043
1,823,304
5,018,900

2024-2027

25,928,889

11,571,111

37,500,000

Total capital appreciation bonds
Total general obligation bonds
and capital appreciation bonds
Add: unamortized premium
Less: amount due within one year

62,559,989

$ 16,590,011

$ 79,150,000

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

2024-2027
$

Capital Appreciation Bonds:

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Amount due after one year

160,269,989
12,827,929
(18,073,873)
$

155,024,045
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Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Business type activity
Future maturities of principal and interest of revenue and refunding bonds, with interest ranging from
2.0% to 5.0% and maturing through October 2045, are as follows:
Principal
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

2024-2028
2029-2033
2034-2038
2039-2043
2044-2045
Total revenue and refunding bonds
Add: unamortized premium
Less: amount due within one year
Amount due after one year

$

5,515,000
5,735,000
5,985,000
6,255,000
6,565,000
30,055,000

Interest
$

7,369,825
7,134,050
6,873,925
6,584,325
6,266,150
34,228,275

Total
$

12,884,825
12,869,050
12,858,925
12,839,325
12,831,150
64,283,275

36,975,000
44,255,000
35,270,000
12,660,000
3,580,000
132,740,000

26,328,569
16,969,713
6,682,675
1,998,156
230,000
52,209,113

63,303,569
61,224,713
41,952,675
14,658,156
3,810,000
184,949,113

162,795,000
15,600,141
(6,350,085)

$ 86,437,388

$ 249,232,388

172,045,056

The $6,000,000 statutory allocation of revenues from the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund to the
Council will pay annual debt service on the 2014 Series A Bonds. West Virginia Code §29-22-18a
prescribes the priority and timing of the deposits to the Council for debt service.
The primary source of repayment for the remaining revenue and refunding bonds is the receipt of
payments of principal and interest on a set of loans, known as defined loans, previously made to
projects from general obligation and revenue bond proceeds. Repayments of principal and interest on
the defined loans of $7,686,859 and $674,808 respectively were available for revenue bond debt
service of $7,707,375, comprised of $3,570,000 for principal and $4,137,375 for interest, respectively
for the year ended June 30, 2018.
In prior years, certain general obligation bonds and revenue bonds were defeased by placing the
proceeds of new bonds in irrevocable trusts to provide for all future debt service payments on the
refunded bonds. Accordingly, the trust assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included
in the Council’s financial statements. At June 30, 2018, there were $678,600 in defeased general
obligation bonds outstanding.
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Transactions with State of West Virginia Agencies
The Council received $19.3 million of mineral severance tax revenue from the State’s general fund
into the Debt Service Fund to accommodate the general obligation bonds debt service payments
required in fiscal year 2018. Funds remaining after the payment of general obligation bonds debt
service have been transferred to the Enterprise Fund to provide additional lending and granting
capacity, which is consistent with the Council’s purpose.
West Virginia Code §29-22-18a (Section 18a) created within the State’s lottery fund in the State
Treasury an excess lottery revenue fund from which moneys are disbursed in specific allocations to
various State accounts, including the Council. In accordance to Senate Bill 1013, $46 million was
appropriated to the West Virginia Infrastructure Council during fiscal year 2018 with the first $6
million to be used for debt service on the Series 2014 bonds that were issued for the Chesapeake Bay
and Greenbrier Watershed projects and the remaining $40 million to be used for water, wastewater
and economic development projects around the state.
During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Council contributed $1,648,200 to the Bureau for Public
Health for the required State match for the federally sponsored Drinking Water Treatment Revolving
Fund to secure federal dollars and continue that program. The Council also contributed $9,137,600
($5,004,000 applies to fiscal year 2019) to the Department of Environmental Protection for the
required State match for the federally sponsored Clean Water State Revolving Fund to secure federal
dollars and continue that program as well.
The West Virginia Water Development Authority (the Authority) as the fiduciary agent of the
Council, pays for certain expenses on behalf of the Council. As of June 30, 2018, the Council had
incurred $802,289 of expenses of which $210,485 remains unpaid at June 30, 2018.

Note 11.

Pension Benefits
Plan Description
The Council contributes to the PERS, a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board (CPRB). PERS covers
substantially all employees of the State and its component units, as well as employees of participating
non-state governmental entities who are not participants of another state or municipal system.
Benefits under PERS include retirement, death and disability benefits, and have been established and
may be amended by action of the State Legislature. The CPRB issues a publicly available financial
report that includes financial statements for PERS that may be obtained at www.wvretirement.com

(Continued)
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Pension Benefits (Continued)
Benefits Provided
PERS provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits. Qualification for normal
retirement is age 60 with five years of service or at least age 55 with age and service equal to 80 or
greater. A member may retire with the pension reduced actuarially if the member is at least 55 and
has at least 10 years of contributory service, or at any age with 30 years of contributory service. For
all employees hired on or after July 1, 2015, qualification for normal retirement is age 62 with 10
years of service. A member hired after July 1, 2015 may retire with the pension reduced actuarially if
the member is between ages 60 and 62 with at least ten years of contributory service, between ages 57
and 62 with at least twenty years of contributory services, or between ages 55 and 62 with at least
thirty years of contributory service. The straight-life annuity retirement benefit is equivalent to 2% of
average salary multiplied by years of service. Average salary is the average of the highest annual
compensation during any period of three consecutive years within the last fifteen years of earnings.
For all employees hired on or after July 1, 2015, average salary is the average of the five consecutive
highest annual earnings out of the last fifteen years of earnings. Terminated members with at least
five years of contributory service who do not withdraw their accumulated contributions may elect to
receive their retirement annuity beginning at age 62. For all employees hired on or after July 1, 2015,
this age increases to 64 with at least ten years of contributory service, or age 63 with at least twenty
years of contributory service.
Contributions
Although contributions are not actuarially determined, actuarial valuations are performed to assist the
Legislature in establishing appropriate contribution rates. Current funding policy requires
contributions, consisting of member contributions of 4.5% of covered payroll for all members hired
before July 1, 2015, or member contributions of 6% for all members hired on or after July 1, 2015,
and employer contributions of 11.0%, 12.0%, and 13.5% for the years ended June 30, 2018, 2017,
and 2016 respectively.
During the years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Council’s contributions to PERS required
and made were approximately $26,387, $21,726, and $37,417, respectively.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2018, the Council reported a liability of $55,576 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July
1, 2016, rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2017. The Council’s proportion of the net
pension liability was based on the Council’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all employers participating in PERS for the year ended June 30, 2017. At June 30,
2017, the Council’s proportion was 0.012875 percent, which was a decrease of 0.006532 percent
from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.
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Pension Benefits (Continued)
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Council recognized pension expense of ($19,274). At June 30,
2018, the Council reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in assumptions
Changes in proportion and differences between
the Council’s contributions and proportionate share
of contributions
Difference between expected and actual
experience
The Council’s contributions made subsequent to the
measurement date of June 30, 2017
Total

$

$

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
-

$

13,511
2,883

1,755

14,435

4,946

123

26,387

-

33,088

$

30,952

The $26,387 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the
Council’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the
net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense
as follows:
Year ended June 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022

$

(8,942)
(152)
(3,483)
(11,674)

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
3.0 - 6.0 percent, average, including inflation
7.5 percent, net of pension plan investment expense

(Continued)
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Pension Benefits (Continued)
Mortality rates were based on 100% of RP-2 000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA fully generational for
active employees, 110% of the RP-2000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA fully generational for healthy
males, 101% of the RP-2000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA fully generational for healthy females, 96% of
RP-2000 Disabled Annuitant, Scale AA fully generational for disabled males, and 107% of RP-2000
Disabled Annuitant, Scale AA fully generational for disabled females.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a buildingblock method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns,
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Asset Class
US equity
International equity
Core fixed income
High yield fixed income
Real estate
Private equity
Hedge funds
Total
Inflation (CPI)

Target
Allocation

Long-term
Expected
Rate of
Return

Weighted
Average
Expected Real
Rate of Return

27.5%
27.5%
7.5%
7.5%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%

7.0%
7.7%
2.7%
5.5%
7.0%
9.4%
4.7%

1.92%
2.12%
0.20%
0.41%
0.70%
0.94%
0.47%

100.00%

6.76%
1.90%
8.66%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5 percent. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the
current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will continue to be made at statutorily
required rates, which are determined annually based on actuarial valuations. Based on those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability. Although discount rates are subject to change
between measurement dates, there were no changes in the discount rate in the current period.
(Continued)
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Pension Benefits (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate
The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated
using the discount rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point
lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(6.5%)
The Council’s proportionate share
of the net pension liability

Note 12.

$

153,859

Current Discount
Rate (7.5%)
$

55,576

1% Increase
(8.5%)
$

27,521

Other Postemployment Benefits
Plan description
The West Virginia Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (the OPEB Plan) is a cost-sharing, multipleemployer, defined benefit other post-employment benefit plan and covers the retirees of State
agencies, colleges and universities, county boards of education, and other government entities as set
forth in the West Virginia Code Section 5-16D-2 (the Code). The financial activities of the OPEB
Plan are accounted for in the West Virginia Retiree Health Benefit Trust Fund (RHBT), a fiduciary
fund of the State of West Virginia. The OPEB Plan is administered by a combination of the West
Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency (PEIA) and the RHBT staff. OPEB Plan benefits are
established and revised by PEIA and the RHBT management with approval of their Finance Board.
The PEIA issues a publically available financial report of the RHBT that can be obtained at
www.peia.wv.gov or by writing to the West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency, 601 57th
Street, SE Suite 2, Charleston, WV 25304.
Benefits provided
Council employees who retire are eligible for PEIA health and life benefits, provided they meet the
minimum eligibility requirements of the PERS or meet certain other eligibility requirements of other
CPRB sponsored retirement plans. RHBT provides medical and prescription drug insurance and life
insurance benefits to those qualified participants. Life insurance is provided through a vendor and is
fully funded by member contributions. The medical and prescription drug insurance is provided
through two options; Self-Insured Preferred Provider Benefit Plan - primarily for non-Medicareeligible retirees and spouses or External Managed Care Organizations - primarily for Medicareeligible retirees and spouses.
The RHBT Medicare-eligible retired employees and their Medicare-eligible dependents receive
medical and drug coverage from a Medicare Advantage Plan. Under this arrangement, the vendor
assumes the financial risk of providing comprehensive medical and drug coverage with limited
copayments. Non-Medicare retirees continue enrollment in PEIA's Preferred Provider Benefit or the
Managed Care Option. The RHBT collects employer contributions for Managed Care Organization
(MCO) participants and remits capitation payments to the MCO. Survivors of retirees have the option
of purchasing the medical and prescription drug coverage.
(Continued)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Eligible participants hired after June 30, 2010, will be required to fully fund premium contributions
upon retirement. The Plan is a closed plan to new entrants.
Contributions
West Virginia Code section 5-16D-6 assigns to the PEIA Finance Board the authority to establish and
amend contribution requirements of the plan members and the participating employers. Participating
employers are required by statute to contribute at a rate assessed each year by the RHBT. The annual
contractually required rate is the same for all participating employers. Employer contributions
represent what the employer was billed during the respective year for their portion of the pay as you
go premiums, commonly referred to as paygo, retiree leave conversion billings, and other matters,
including billing adjustments. The annual contractually required per active policyholder per month
rates for State non-general funded agencies and other participating employers effective June 30, 2018,
2017, and 2016, respectively, were:
2018
Paygo Premium

$

177

2017

2017

1/1/17 -6/30/17

7/1/112/31/16

$

135

$

196

2016
$

163

Contributions to the OPEB plan from the Council were $3,345, $8,604, and $19,152 for the years
ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.
Members retired before July 1, 1997, pay retiree healthcare contributions at the highest sponsor
subsidized rate, regardless of their actual years of service. Members retired between July 1, 1997 and
June 30, 2010, pay a subsidized rate depending on the member's years of service. Members hired on
or after July 1, 2010, pay retiree healthcare contributions with no sponsor provided implicit or explicit
subsidy.
Retiree leave conversion contributions from the employer depend on the retiree's date of hire and
years of service at retirement as described below;
•

Members hired before July 1, 1988, may convert accrued sick or leave days into 100% of the
required retiree healthcare contribution.

•

Members hired from July 1, 1988, to June 30, 2001, may convert accrued sick or leave days
into 50% of the required retiree healthcare contribution.

The conversion rate is two days of unused sick and annual leave days per month for single healthcare
coverage and three days of unused sick and annual leave days per month for family healthcare
coverage.

(Continued)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Contributions by Nonemployer Contributing Entities in Special Funding Situations
The State of West Virginia is a nonemployer contributing entity that provides funding through SB
419, effective July 1, 2012, amended by West Virginia Code §11-21-96. The State provides a
supplemental pre-funding source dedicating $30 million annually to the RHBT Fund from annual
collections of the Personal Income Tax Fund and dedicated for payment of the unfunded liability of
the RHBT. The $30 million transferred pursuant to this Code shall be transferred until the Governor
certifies to the Legislature that an independent actuarial study has determined that the unfunded
liability of RHBT has been provided for in its entirety or July 1, 2037, whichever date is later. This
funding is to the advantage of all RHBT contributing employers.
The State is a nonemployer contributing entity that provides funding through West Virginia State
Code §11B-2-32. The Financial Stability Fund is a plan to transfer an annual amount of $5 million to
the RHBT from special revenue funds to be used to lower retiree premiums, to help reduce benefit
cuts, to help reduce premium increases or any combination thereof. The $5 million transferred
pursuant to this Code shall be transferred annually into the RHBT through June 30, 2020. This
funding is to the advantage of all RHBT contributing employers.
The State is a nonemployer contributing entity that provides funding through SB 469 which was
passed February 10, 2012, granting OPEB liability relief to the 55 County Boards of Education
effective July 1, 2012. The public school support plan (PSSP) is a basic foundation allowance
program that provides funding to the local school boards for "any amount of the employer's annual
required contribution allocated and billed to the county boards for employees who are employed as
professional employees, employees who are employed as service personnel and employees who are
employed as professional student support personnel", within the limits authorized by the State Code.
This special funding under the school aid formula subsidizes employer contributions of the county
boards of education.
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB
At June 30, 2018, the Council reported a liability for its proportionate share of the RHBT net OPEB
liability that reflected a reduction for State OPEB support provided to the Council. The amount
recognized by the Council as its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, the related State
support, and the total portion of the net OPEB liability that was associated with the Council was as
follows:
Council’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
State’s special funding proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability associated with the Council.
Total portion of net OPEB liability associated with the Council
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total OPEB liability used to
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016. The
Council’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on its proportionate share of employer and
non-employer contributions to the OPEB Plan for the fiscal year ended on the measurement date. At
June 30, 2017, the Council’s proportion was .00205206 percent, which is a decrease of .002014988
percent from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Council recognized OPEB expense of $2,925 and for support
provided by the State under special funding situations revenue of $3,182. At June 30, 2018, the
Council reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows
of Resources
$
-

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$
169

-

805

-

18,369

Differences between expected and actual experience
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on OPEB plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between Council’s
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
Council’s contributions subsequent to the measurement
date of June 30, 2017
Total $

3,345
3,345

$

19,343

The amount of $3,345 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from
Council’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the
net OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as
follows:
Year ended June 30:
2019
2020
2021
2022

$ (5,193)
(5,193)
(5,193)
(3,764)

Actuarial assumptions
The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, rolled forward
to June 30, 2017 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:
(Continued)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Actuarial assumptions (Continued)
Inflation

2.75%

Salary increases

Dependent upon pension system ranging from 3.00% to 6.50%,
including inflation

Investment rate of return

7.15%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including
inflation

Healthcare cost trend rates

Actual trend used for fiscal year 2017. For fiscal years on and
after 2018, trend starts at 8.50% and 9.75% for pre and postMedicare, respectively, and gradually decreases to an ultimate
trend of 4.50%. Excess trend rate of 0.14% and 0.29% for pre
and post-Medicare,
respectively, is added to healthcare trend rates pertaining to per
capita claims costs beginning in 2020 to account for the Excise
Tax

Actuarial cost method

Entry Age Normal Cost Method

Amortization method

Level percentage of payroll over a 21 year closed period

Remaining amortization period 21 years closed as of June 30, 2016
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table projected with Scale
AA on a fully generational basis for PERS and Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS). RP-2000
Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table projected to 2025 with scale BB for West Virginia Death,
Disability, and Retirement Fund (Troopers A) and West Virginia State Police Retirement System
(Troopers B). Pre-Retirement: RP-2000 Non-Annuitant Mortality Table projected with Scale AA on a
fully generational basis for PERS and TRS. RP-2000 Non-Annuitant Mortality Table projected to
2020 with Scale BB for Troopers A and B.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2015.
The long-term expected rate of return of 7.15% on OPEB plan investments was determined by a
combination of an expected long-term rate of return of 7.50% for long-term assets invested with the
West Virginia Investment Management Board (WVIMB) and an expected short-term rate of return of
3.0% for assets invested with the WVBTI. Long-term pre-funding assets are invested with the
WVIMB. The strategic asset allocation consists of 55% equity, 15% fixed income, 10% private
equity, 10% hedge fund and 10% real estate invested. Short-term assets used to pay current year
benefits and expenses are invested with the WVBTI.

(Continued)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Actuarial assumptions (Continued)
The long-term rate of return on OPEB plan investments were determined using a building block
method in which estimates of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan
investment expense and inflation) was developed for each major asset class. These ranges were
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
of return by the target asset allocation percentages and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
long-term geometric rates are summarized in the following table:
Long-Term
Expected Real
Rate of Return

Asset Class
Large Cap Domestic
Non-Large Cap Domestic
International Qualified
International Non-Qualified
International Equity
Short-Term Fixed
Total Return Fixed Income
Core Fixed Income
Hedge Fund
Private Equity
Real Estate
Opportunistic Income
Cash

17.0%
22.0%
24.6%
24.3%
26.2%
0.5%
6.7%
0.1%
5.7%
19.6%
8.3%
4.8%
0.0%

Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.15%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that RHBT contributions would be made at rates equal to
the actuarially determined contribution rates, in accordance with prefunding and investment policies.
Future pre-funding assumptions include a $30 million annual contribution from the State through
2037. Based on those assumptions, and that the Plan is expected to be fully funded by fiscal year
ended June 30, 2036, the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of
return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB liability. Discount rates are subject to change between measurement dates.
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at June 30, 2016 is a 0.45% increase from
the June 30, 2015 valuation.
Other key assumptions
The projection assumes that the capped subsidy aggregate contribution limit of $150 million for 2017
would increase by $10 million per year on and after 2018. Additionally, the per member subsidy is
projected to increase by at least 3.0% per year but no more than the healthcare trend inflation
assumption such that the product of the projected subsidy and projected members is less than the
(Continued)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Other key assumptions (Continued)
projected aggregated capped costs; and the member's share of plan costs is expected remain stable as
a percentage of total costs following the year that the program is fully funded. After 2035, the
program is projected to be fully funded and the sponsor is assumed to contribute the residual portion
of normal cost and operational expenses needed to maintain a funded ratio of 100% in future years. In
addition, after 2035, the member's share of total plan costs is assumed to remain stable at
approximately 61% of total plan costs. These assumptions produced per member annual capped
subsidy increases of 3.0% per year from 2018 to 2023 and 4.5% per year after 2023.
Members hired on or after July 1, 2010, are required to pay 100% of expected cost of coverage,
resulting in no implicit or explicit employer cost. Consequently, these members are excluded from the
actuarial valuation.
Sensitivity of the Council’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount
rate
The following presents the Council’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the current discount rate, as well as what the Council’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentagepoint higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(6.15%)
Council’s proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability

$

58,755

Current
Discount Rate
(7.15%)
$

50,460

1% Increase
(8.15%)
$

43,565

Sensitivity of the Authority’s proportionate share of net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare
cost trend rates
The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as well as what
the Authority’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the
current rates:

1% Decrease
Authority’s proportionate share of
the net OPEB liability

$

42,387
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Current
Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates
$

50,460

1% Increase
$

60,334
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Schedule of General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses in the enterprise fund for the year ended June 30, 2018, were as
follows:
Salaries and benefits
Legal
Consulting and professional
Rentals
Travel and training
Office supplies
Computer services
Telecommunications
Trustee
Insurance
Storage Expense
Property Tax
Total general and administrative

Note 14.

$

339,129
172,929
59,237
96,434
4,818
7,127
1,806
1,834
110,181
4,549
69
4,176

$

802,289

Risk Management
The Council is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to and illnesses of employees; and natural disasters.
The Council has obtained coverage for job-related injuries to employees and health coverage for its
employees in exchange for the payment of premiums to a commercial insurance provider and
WVPEIA. Accordingly, the Council has transferred its risk related to job-related injuries and health
coverage for employees.
The Council obtained coverage transferring its risk for general liability, property damage, business
interruption, errors and omissions, and natural disasters from the West Virginia Board of Risk and
Insurance Management in exchange for an annual premium. There were no changes in any of the
above coverages or claims in excess of coverage for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Note 15.

Restricted Net Position
Restrictions of net position are the result of constraints placed on the use of net position which have
been imposed through third party bond indentures and enabling legislation. The enterprise fund
Statement of Net Position reports $621,723,250 of restricted net position, of which $103,215,062 is
restricted for the debt service related to the defined loan program segment of the revenue bonds.

Note 16.

Commitments
The Council’s Enterprise Fund has issued commitments to loan or grant funds to qualifying
applicants for a period of time contingent on numerous actions to be completed by the applicants. As
of June 30, 2018, $12,831,922 was designated by the Council for loans and grants to water,
wastewater, and economic development projects. The Council also has commitments to provide
grants in the amount of $3,343 remaining for the Greenbrier Watershed projects. The Council has also
designated $7,225,400 for contributions to two State agencies for the required State match for
federally sponsored revolving funds.
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New Accounting Pronouncements
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued the following Statements which
are not yet effective.
The GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations in November 2016. This
Statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a
corresponding deferred outflow of resources for asset retirement obligations. The requirements of
this Statement are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018.
The GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities in January 2017. This Statement
establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for fiduciary activities. The requirements
of this Statement are effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018.
The GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases in June 2017. This Statement establishes standards of
accounting and financial reporting for leases by lessees and lessors. The requirements of this
Statement are effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019.
Management has not determined the effects these new GASB Statements may have on prospective
financial statements.

Note 18.

Segment Information
The presentation of segment information for the Council’s Enterprise Fund, which conforms with
GAAP. The Defined Loan Program segment consists of a series of defined loans, which are the
primary source of repayment of the revenue bonds, as dictated by the bond resolutions.

(Continued)
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Segment Information (Continued)
Defined Loan
Program
ASSETS
CURRENT
NONCURRENT

$

27,631,993
176,802,974

$

204,434,967

$
$

983,593
983,593

$
$

4,555,472
97,648,026
102,203,498

Net position:
Restricted

$

103,215,062

Operating revenue:
Charges for services

$

674,808

Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources:
Losses on bond refundings
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
NONCURRENT
Total liabilities

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Interest on bonds

215,374
3,990,478

Operating loss:

(3,531,044)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest and investment revenue, net of arbitrage
Transfers (net)

181,145
(3,561)

Change in net position

(3,353,460)

Beginning net position

106,568,522

Ending net position

$

103,215,062

Cash flows:
Net cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities
Noncapital financing activities
Investing activities
Beginning cash and cash equivalents
Ending cash and cash equivalents
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$

4,237,528
(3,698,183)
165,821
18,971,234

$

19,676,400

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

THE WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
Public Employees Retirement System Plan

Year Ended June 30,
2017
2016

2018
The Council's proportion (percentage) of the net pension liability

0.0129%

0.0194%

2015

0.0222%

0.0209%

The Council's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

55,576

$

178,377

$

123,848

$

77,670

The Council's covered payroll

$

181,050

$

277,162

$

301,770

$

257,684

The Council's proportionate share of the net pension's liability
as a percentage of its covered payroll

30.70%

64.36%

41.04%

30.14%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability

93.67%

86.11%

91.29%

93.98%

Note: All amounts are presented as of the measurement date,
which is one year prior to the fiscal year end date.

See Independent Auditor's Report and accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information.
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2018
Statutorily required contribution
Contributions in relation to the statutorily

$

required contribution

Years Ended June 30
2016
2015

2017

26,387

$

(26,387)

21,726

$

(21,726)

37,417

$

(37,417)

2014

42,090

$

(42,090)

2013

37,400

$

(37,400)

32,210
(32,210)

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

The Council's covered payroll
Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll

$

239,873

$

181,050

$

277,162

$

301,770

$

257,684

$

232,969

11.00%

12.00%

13.50%

13.95%

14.51%

See Independent Auditor's Report and accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information.
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13.83%

THE WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
Retiree Health Benefit Trust

Year Ended June 30,
2018
The Council's proportion (percentage) of the net OPEB liability
The Council's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability

0.00205206%
$

The State's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability associated with the Council

50,460
10,365

Total proportionate share of the net OPEB liability associated with the Council

$

60,825

The Council's covered emplyee payroll

$

67,537

The Council's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
as a percentage of its covered employee payroll

74.71%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability

25.10%

Note: All amounts presented are as of the measurement date, which is
one year prior to the fiscal year end date.

See Independent Auditor's Report and accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information.
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THE WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE RHBT

Year Ended June 30,
2018
Statutorily required contribution
Contributions in relation to the statutorily
required contribution

$

3,345

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

The Council's covered employee payroll
Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

$

42,914

(3,345)

See Independent Auditor's Report and accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information.
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7.79%

THE WEST VIRGINIA INFRASTRUCTURE AND JOBS DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
NOTE TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Note 1.

Trend Information Presented
The accompanying schedules of the proportionate share of the net pension liability, contributions to
PERS, the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and contributions to the RHBT, are required
supplementary information to be presented for 10 years. However, until a full 10 year trend is
compiled, information is presented in the schedules for those years for which information is available.

Note 2.

OPEB Changes in Assumptions
Below are changes in the assumptions between the 2016 and 2015 valuations:
Certain economic and behavioral assumptions are unique to healthcare benefits. These assumptions
include the healthcare trend, per capita claims costs, the likelihood that a member selects healthcare
coverage and the likelihood that a retiree selects one-person, two person or family coverage. These
assumptions were updated based on a recent experience study performed by the RHBT actuaries
using five-year experience data through June 30, 2015. The updated per capita claims costs were also
based on recent claims, enrollment and premium information as of the valuation date.
For the June 30, 2016 valuation, the retiree healthcare participation assumption for each retirement
plan is slightly higher than the previous assumption used in the June 30, 2015 OPEB valuation. More
members who were covered as actives will be assumed to participate as retirees.
The 2016 and 2015 valuations include consideration of the $30 million annual appropriations under
Senate Bill 419, through July 1, 2037, or if earlier, the year the benefit obligation is fully funded.
Additionally, the presentation of covered payroll was changed for the June 30, 2015, actuarial
valuation. Participating employees hired before July 1, 2010, pay retiree premiums that are subsidized
based on years of service at retirement. Participating employees hired on or after July 1, 2010, are
required to fully fund premium contributions upon retirement. Consequently, beginning June 30,
2015, actuarial valuation covered payroll represents only the payroll for those OPEB eligible
participating employees that were hired before July 1, 2010, allowing a better representation of the
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll, whereas, for the prior years, covered payroll is in total for
all participating employees.

Note 3.

Pension Plan Amendments
The PERS was amended to make changes which apply to new employees hired July 1, 2015 and later
as follows:


For employees hired prior to July 1, 2015, qualification for normal retirement is age 60 with five
years of service or at least age 55 with age and service equal to 80 or greater. A member may
retire with the pension reduced actuarially if the member is at least age 55 and has at least 10
years of contributory service, or at any age with 30 years of contributory service. For employees
hired July 1, 2015 and later, qualification for normal retirement is 62 with 10 years of service. A
member hired after July 1, 2015 may retire with the pension reduced actuarially if the member is
between ages 60 and 62 with at least ten years of contributory service, between ages 57 and 62
with at least twenty years of contributory service, or between ages 55 and 62 with at least thirty
years of contributory service.

(Continued)
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Note 4.

Pension Plan Amendments


The straight life annuity retirement benefit is equivalent to 2% of average salary multiplied by
years of service. For employees hired prior to July 1, 2015, average salary is the average of the
three consecutive highest annual earnings out of the last fifteen years of earnings. For all
employees hired July 1, 2015 and later average salary is the average of the five consecutive
highest annual earnings out of the last fifteen years of earnings.



For employees hired prior to July 1, 2015, terminated members with at least five years of
contributory service who do not withdraw their accumulated contributions may elect to receive
their retirement annuity beginning at age 62. For all employees hired July 1, 2015 and later, this
age increases to 64 with at least ten years of contributory service, or age 63 with at least twenty
years of contributory service.



For all employees hired prior to July 1, 2015, employees are required to contribute 4.5% of
annual earnings. All employees hired July 1, 2015 and later, are required to contribute 6% of
annual earnings.

Pension Plan Assumptions
An experience study, which was based on the years 2009 through 2014, was completed prior to the
2015 actuarial valuation. As a result, several assumptions were changed for the actuarial valuations as
follows:
2015-2017

Projected salary increases:
State
Nonstate
Inflation rate
Mortality rates

Withdrawal rates
State
Non-state
Disability rates

2014

3.0-4.6%
3.35-6.0%
3.0% (2016 and 2017); 1.9% (2015)
Active-RP- 2000 Non-Annuitant
tables, Scale AA fully generational
Healthy males - 110% of RP2000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA
fully generational
2000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA
Healthy females - 1971 GAM
Healthy females - 101% of RP2000 Non-Annuitant, Scale AA
fully generational
Disabled males – 96% of RP-2000
Disabled Annuitant, Scale AA
fully generational
Disabled females -107% of RP-2000
Disabled Annuitant, Scale AA
fully generational

4.25-6.0%
4.25-6.0%
2.2%
Healthy males – 1983 GAM
Healthy females – 1971 GAM
Disabled males – 1971 GAM
Disabled females - Revenue
ruling 96-7

1.75-35.1%
2-35.8%
0 - .67

1 - 26%
2 - 31.2%
0 - .8%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council
Charleston, West Virginia
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, business-type activities, and each major fund of the West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs
Development Council (the Council), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Council’s basic financial statements, and have
issued our report thereon dated October 9, 2018.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Council’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the Council’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Council’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Charleston, West Virginia
October 9, 2018
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